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Vision

To be the preferred supplier of aggregaterelated products in the construction industry
by ensuring our customers expectations are
exceeded, by delivering quality service and
products, thereby creating prosperity for all
stakeholders.
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Corporate Proﬁle

100%

NOORDVAAL
CRUSHERS

100%

49%

WEARNE
LOGISTICS

SENATLA

Wearne was established in 1910 as a construction concern by its founder, William George
Wearne. Wearne is a leading supplier of ready mixed concrete and aggregates in the country.
The Company provides its products to customers in the construction, housing and mining
industries and to various government projects.
The current CEO is the fourth generation of the family to manage this family-owned
business.
The Company’s stone crushing and ready mixed concrete plants are strategically located in
areas that cover the Free State, Gauteng, North West and Limpopo provinces.
Revenue in the 2007 ﬁnancial year grew to R352 million from R196 million in 2006, and
proﬁt after taxation grew to R26 million from R15.7 million in 2006.
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Highlights for the Year

•
•
•
•
•
•

Revenue up 79%
Headline earnings up 76% to 26 million
Earnings per share up 27%
Headline earnings per share up 35%
Net tangible asset value per share up over 100%
R135 million acquisition of De Bruyn Sand
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Chairman and Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer’s Review

In the period under review Wearne continued to grow from strength to strength. After
having successfully listed on Altx as the ﬁrst construction-related company the previous
year, Wearne has once again signiﬁcantly surpassed all growth forecasts for this year,
securing our position as one of South Africa’s largest suppliers of ready mixed concrete and
aggregates. Riding the wave of a booming construction industry, Wearne remains at the
crest through strategic decision-making with regard to supplying the growing demand for
our products and services.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Revenue for the Group increased by an unprecedented 79% to R352,5 million (compared to
R196,6 million in 2006). EBITDA margins improved from 15,3% in February 2006 to 16,8%
in February 2007 and were maintained even though material shortages for the ready mix
concrete division were experienced during the year. EBITDA increased 98% to R59,3 million
this year (compared to R30 million in 2006).
Headline earnings increased 76% from the previous year to R25,9 million (compared to
R14,7 million in 2006), and attributable earnings increased 65% from the previous period
to R26,1 million (compared to R15,7 million in 2006). Headline earnings per share increased
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35% to 19.7 cents (14.6 cents in 2006). The lower increase in headline earnings per share is
directly attributable to the issue of 20 million new ordinary shares on 1 November 2006 to
partly fund the W De Bruyn Sand acquisition.
Wearne acquired three sand and stone quarries from De Bruyn Sand, which was only
incorporated in the Wearne results from January 2007. This acquisition will strengthen Wearne’s
presence in Gauteng as well as ensure aggregate supply to the Group’s concrete operations.
The full beneﬁts of the De Bruyn acquisition will be realised in the new ﬁnancial year.
Total capital expenditure amounted to R217 million (compared to R27 million in 2006) and
related mainly to the De Bruyn quarry acquisition (R135 million) as well as further investment
in plant and delivery vehicles to meet the huge demand for the Group’s products.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
The Group’s two operating divisions, aggregates and ready mixed concrete both increased
turnover signiﬁcantly while maintaining margins. Turnover of aggregates increased by
93% to R92 million. Ready mixed concrete turnover increased by 75% to R260 million.
The growth in the ready mixed concrete division was a remarkable achievement in light of
shortages in cementatious materials for periods during the year under review.

ISSUE OF SHARES
On 1 November 2006 the Group issued 20 million shares at a price of R2,70 to institutional
investors to fund the De Bruyn Sand acquisition.

PROSPECTS
The Group will continue to grow the ready mixed concrete division organically as there is
still ample opportunity for geographical expansion. The growth in this division will be limited
by the availability of cement. Additional cement capacity is scheduled to be available by
September 2008.
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Growth in the aggregate division will be achieved by increasing capacity at current operations
and acquiring additional quarries in new geographical areas. The Group also decided to
enter into the contract crushing market by acquiring two mobile crushing plants from the
Quarrying and Mining group. The decision was taken in light of the signiﬁcant increase in
demand for road building material caused by Government’s infrastructure expansion.
In line with the Group’s expansion strategy, two further quarry operations in Tzaneen and
Pietermaritzburg were acquired for a maximum purchase consideration of R55 million. The
purchase considerations are subject to certain proﬁt warranties. The Tzaneen acquisition
will expand Wearne’s presence in the rapidly growing Limpopo province aggregate market,
whereas the Pietermaritzburg acquisition will strategically position Wearne to expand its
geographical footprint to include KwaZulu-Natal. The only condition precedent which still
has to be resolved is the session of the current mining leases with the property owners
where these quarries are situated. We anticipate all to be in place by 1 September 2007.
In addition the Group obtained a 50% shareholding in a Bethlehem brick manufacturing
plant in the Eastern Free State. This is the Group’s ﬁrst venture into brick manufacturing.
The company will operate as Wearne Bricks (Pty) Ltd and the plan is to roll out new plants
to all existing quarry operations.
The above mentioned expansion plans, as well as the incorporation of the De Bruyn Sand
business into our ﬁgures for the full reporting period bodes well for the continued aggressive
growth of the business. We are therefore conﬁdent that all growth targets will be met and
that the Group will continue to take advantage of the favourable trading conditions.

DIVIDEND POLICY
In line with the Group’s strategic expansion policy to reinvest capital and sustain growth, no
dividend was declared for the year.

PEOPLE
Our staff is our most valued commodity without whose enthusiasm and diligence, the
success achieved this year would not have been possible. As Wearne grew, so did the staff,
with the compliment of 426 last year reaching an all-time high of 717 people this year.
At Wearne we place tremendous value on every individual, and their right to safety in the
workplace is of paramount importance to us. This year we are proud to report minimal
injuries and no fatalities.
We sincerely thank our management team and staff for their hard
work and dedication in assuring we achieve our targets, and
outperform the competition. May we continue to create wealth
for all our stakeholders.

John Wearne
Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
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Corporate Governance Report
The directors of WG Wearne Limited (“Wearne”) acknowledge the importance of sound
corporate governance and are committed to implementing the principles of the King Report
II on Corporate Governance 2002 (“King II”). During the year the directors were able to focus
on improving and codifying operational and corporate practices to attempt to achieve full
compliance with the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct (“the Code”) set out in King II.
The directors have adopted the Code as appropriate to the nature and size of the Group,
and going forward will monitor compliance to ensure ongoing improvement of operational
and corporate practices.

14

The Board
Post-listing the unitary board consists of six directors and is chaired by the chief executive
ofﬁcer (“CEO”) SJ Wearne. It comprises a further three executive directors, one of whom is
chief ﬁnancial ofﬁcer (“CFO”), and two non-executive directors. The Group recognises the
King II recommendations that board membership comprise a majority of non-executive
directors and include independent non-executive directors, and will be cognisant of these
recommendations in future board appointments.
Although the two non-executive directors are not classiﬁed as independent in terms of King
II as they are shareholders in the Company, they are fully independent of management and
enjoy no beneﬁts from the Company for their services as directors other than their fee in
this regard. The non-executive directors are high calibre individuals who contribute a wide
range of skills, knowledge and experience and are not involved in the day-to-day operations
of the Company.
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Notwithstanding that in terms of Altx requirements the ofﬁces of CEO and chairman are
not necessarily separated, a clear division of responsibility is maintained across the board to
ensure that no director can exercise unfettered powers of decision-making.
Currently directors’ service contracts endure for an indeﬁnite period. Going forward these
contracts will be amended to three years in duration. In accordance with the articles of
association directors retire every three years and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting. SJ Wearne and BJ du Toit retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
The Board meets at least four times a year with additional meetings held where necessary
to review strategy, planning, operations, ﬁnancial performance, risk, capital expenditure
and human resource and environmental management.
The Board maintains full and effective control over the Group and is responsible for
monitoring executive management. A Board charter formally setting out the Board’s
composition and procedures was adopted during the current year. The charter codiﬁes the
Board’s duties and responsibilities which include determining the Group’s overall policy,
strategic direction and planning, acquisitions and resource allocation. The charter further
includes guidelines on regular self-evaluation protocol as well as the appraisal of directors’
performance.
All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company secretary
and to Company records, information, documents and property. Non-executive directors
also have free access to management at any time. All directors are entitled, at the Company’s
expense, to seek independent professional advice on any matters pertaining to the Group
necessary to discharge their responsibilities.

BOARD PROCESSES
Share Dealings
Directors are required to declare their shareholdings, additional directorships and potential
conﬂicts of interest as well as any share dealings to the chairman and Company secretary,
who together with the designated advisor ensure that share dealings are published on the
Securities Exchange News Service (“SENS”).
In addition, all directors and management with access to ﬁnancial information and any
other price sensitive information are prohibited from dealing in Wearne shares during ‘closed
periods’, as deﬁned by the JSE Limited, or while the Company is trading under cautionary.
New Appointments
As the Company does not have a formal nominations committee, the Board as a whole is
responsible for new board appointments. The process for new appointments is conducted
in a formal and transparent manner.
The Company secretary is responsible for implementing the Company’s informal induction
program which includes introduction of new board members to key management and
site visits. New appointees are further provided with copies of recent interim and annual
ﬁnancial results and an overview of the Company’s accounting policies. In addition, all new
appointees are required to attend the four-day Altx Directors Induction Program run through
the Wits Business School and endorsed by the Institute of Directors. The program covers
pertinent aspects of company law, stock exchange regulations, the roles, responsibilities and
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liabilities of directors, basic techniques of ﬁnancial analysis and the importance of investor
and media relations. All of Wearne’s current directors have completed the Altx Directors
Induction Program.

Self-Evaluation
The Board will look to implement a formal self-evaluation process going forward as set
out in the Board charter. The performance of executive and non-executive directors is
currently evaluated by the CEO, while the Board as a whole is responsible for evaluating the
performance of the CEO.

Succession Planning
Mentorship programmes have been introduced and will be expanded in the current year to
help identify suitable succession candidates. A formal mentorship programme is already
underway with respect to the ofﬁce of CFO.

Remuneration Philosophy
Remuneration of directors is the responsibility of the Board as a whole. In aiming to attract
candidates of the highest quality, basic salaries are market-related and in addition recognise
the particular employee’s qualiﬁcations and experience. Salaries are adjusted annually and
bonuses are paid at the discretion of the Board.

Company Secretary
The Company secretary is responsible for providing the directors with up-to-date information
on regulatory changes as well as corporate governance. Where appropriate, the Company
secretary will involve the designated advisor and other relevant experts in this regard.

Board Committees
Executive Committee (“EXCO”)
The EXCO comprises the Group’s four executive directors, together with managers of
business units. It is responsible for the daily running of Group companies and regularly
reviews current operations in detail, develops strategy and policy proposals for consideration
by the Board and oversees the implementation of its directives.
The CEO liaises on a regular basis with the CFO and other directors, with regard to matters
concerning the daily running of the Group to be raised at EXCO meetings.
Audit Committee
A formal audit committee has been established during the current year in accordance
with King II recommendations, and met twice during the latter half of the ﬁnancial year.
The committee is chaired by a non-executive director with ﬁnancial expertise and the
Company’s designated advisor, and CFO will attend all meetings. The external auditors have
unrestricted access to the audit committee and its chairman.
The audit committee charter sets out and codiﬁes the role and responsibilities of the
committee including monitoring the:
•

integrity of the Group’s ﬁnancial statements and any formal announcements made
relating to the Group’s performance and signiﬁcant reporting judgements made
therein;
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•

effectiveness of the Group’s internal ﬁnancial controls and systems of internal control
and risk management;

•

effectiveness of the internal audit function;

•

appointment, terms of engagement and remuneration of the external auditor;

•

external auditor’s independence, objectivity and effectiveness, and the supply of nonaudit services by the external auditor; and

•

compliance with the applicable legislation and requirements of regulatory authorities.

The audit committee reports directly to the Board on these matters.

Accounting and Auditing
The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the ﬁnancial statements are
fairly presented in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The preparation of the ﬁnancial statements remains the responsibility of the directors.

Internal Control and Risk Management
In light of the size of the Group, the Board has deemed a dedicated internal audit function
to be impractical. Internal audit responsibilities were managed during the year by the CFO
and executive management. The CFO remains responsible for monitoring and reviewing
internal audit matters.
There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of internal control, including
the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. The system
is therefore designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of failure and opportunity risk.
Nothing has come to the attention of the Board to indicate that there has been a material
breakdown in the internal systems of control during the year.

Stakeholder Communication
The Company is committed to timely, consistent and transparent communication with all
stakeholders, part of which involves a newsletter to employees.
Company announcements are released on SENS and posted on the Company’s website.
Financial results announcements are also posted to shareholders who are encouraged to
attend the annual general meeting. The CEO is available to answer queries from stakeholders,
including industry analysts, at all times and wherever possible engages with the ﬁnancial
media to ensure accurate reporting.

Code of Ethics
A formal code of ethics was adopted during the year, to which the Group and the directors
are required to adhere. The main tenets of the code include a commitment to integrity in all
business dealings, conﬁdentiality of information, timeous dissemination of information, a
nondiscriminatory work environment and sound safety, health and environmental policies.
All employees and the directors are be bound by the code of ethics.
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Sustainability Report
BEE
The Group is committed to sustainable transformation as a business imperative. Current
BEE shareholding is Mining Charter-compliant at 16%, comprising two independent
empowerment consortia which together hold 8.3% and Wearne’s employees’ options
over 4, 8 million shares through the Group’s share incentive scheme. The rest of the BEE
shareholding is held by private individuals. Over 75 % of Wearne employees are Historically
Disadvantaged Individuals (“HDIs”).
Wearne intends over time to focus on increasing its BEE stakeholding to exceed the Charter
and achieve a platform of 26%.
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Although the Group does not have a formal policy on afﬁrmative procurement at present,
wherever possible the use of HDI suppliers is encouraged. Going forward Wearne will look
to implement a formal policy stipulating guidelines and targets.

Employees
The Group’s Employment Equity Committee is responsible for setting employment equity
targets and ensuring that Wearne complies with the Employment Equity Act and any other
relevant legislation. The committee ensures that its policies are continually reviewed to
adhere to international standards and best-practice in this area.
Wearne is committed to fostering a non-discriminatory environment and to this end
has adopted a formal non-discrimination policy, in terms of which all employees are
cautioned against all forms of discrimination relating to race, gender, marital status, family
responsibility, ethnic or social origin, sexual orientation, age, disability, religion, HIV status,
political opinion and language. The Group further has a formal evaluation system that
measures the extent to which the objectives and targets of the non-discrimination policy
have been achieved.
Although the principal objective is to eliminate discrimination entirely, the Group cannot
account for individual behaviour. Consequently, Wearne facilitates counselling to resolve
any issues where employees have may have suffered psychological damage, personal injury,
damage to assets or damage to working relationships as a result of a co-worker’s act of
discrimination.

Skills Development and Training
During the year Artisan Aide training was carried out in the Diesel Mechanic and Boilermaker
disciplines. All trainees have come from HDI background.
ABET training is still ongoing and it is planned to expand the programme to all quarry and
ready mixed concrete operations during the 2008 ﬁnancial year.
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Training of production and laboratory staff in concrete technology has continued during
the past year, a number of employees have completed the Cement and Concrete Institutes
School of Concrete Technology, levels 1 and 2 courses.
Industrial Relations training courses have been provided for employees in management
positions.
All mobile equipment operators undergo annual licensing or assessment, this training is
carried out by an accredited training provider.
A driver training programme for Code 14 drivers has been commissioned, all drivers within
the Company will undergo regular refresher training to ensure they have the correct driving
competencies; the majority of these trainees are HDI Employees.
Wearne is continuously assessing the skills requirement to ascertain areas of shortfall and
so formalise a skills development and mentorship programme aimed at promoting suitable
HDI candidates. In the meantime the Group runs informal mentorship programmes to
identify and promote suitable HDI candidates, which are currently focused at junior and
senior management level.

Health and Safety
Wearne places a strong emphasis on health and safety in the work environment. To this
end it ensures full compliance with the South African Occupational Health and Safety Act
as well as with the Mine Health and Safety Act. Health and safety measures are continually
scrutinised to ensure that the Company’s policies are in line with international standards
and guidelines.
The Group has implemented a formal health and safety policy which provides for riskassessment and evaluation structures and further encourages employees to highlight areas
needing improvement. A Health and Safety Ofﬁcer is responsible for implementing the
policy’s guidelines and conducting regular baseline risk assessments. Each plant has a safety
representative who reports directly to the Health and Safety Ofﬁcer at the monthly Safety,
Health and Environment (“SHE”) forum.
Regular SHE Forums are held at all operations, these joint meetings discuss issues and set
targets for the rectiﬁcation of non compliances.
A small number of minor injuries and vehicle accidents were reported during the year, all
incidents were investigated to facilitate measures to prevent reoccurrences. No reportable
injuries occurred.
The current Disabling Injury Frequency rate is holding at 0,88%, our target is to bring this
ratio to below 0,5%.
Health, Safety and Environmental training has been carried out on an ongoing basis. Various
disciplines are addressed, SHE Induction, First Aid, Health and Safety Representatives and
Mobile Equipment Operation to name but a few. In recognising Wearne’s efforts in this
regard, the Aggregate and Sand Producers Association of Southern Africa (ASPASA) and the
Southern African Readymix Association (SARMA) again conducted favourable annual audits
at the Group’s crushing and concrete plants.
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HIV/AIDS
Wearne is committed to mitigating the impact of the HIV/AIDS pandemic on its staff and
has undertaken a number of signiﬁcant steps to achieve this aim. As a landmark of its
formal HIV/AIDS policy, antiretrovirals are provided free-of-charge to all employees who
voluntarily disclose their status to the Group’s Human Resources Manager.
The policy is intended to create an environment that is responsive to the workplace issues
related to HIV/AIDS, including sensitivity to the special needs of an infected employee who
has disclosed his/her status and assistance through counselling services, and further obliges
co-workers to continue successful working relationships with infected colleagues. It also
emphasises the critical importance of conﬁdentiality regarding an employee’s voluntarily
disclosed status.
As part of the policy managers are encouraged to contact the Human Resources Department
for assistance in providing employees with general information about HIV/AIDS infection.
The policy is reviewed regularly to ensure compliance with legislative developments and
medical advancements in this area.

Environment
Wearne’s environmental policy recognises concern for the environment as fundamental to
operations. The Group’s formal policy not only requires legislative compliance but extends
to best practice. Periodic audits of environmental policies against international standards
and guidelines are undertaken to meet the policy’s requirements.
Managers are obliged to identify environmental risks and take preventative action to
minimise the potential and actual environmental impact of Wearne’s activities, products
and services. Quarry operations are subjected to bi-annual About Face Environmental
Audits accredited by ASPASA, while bi-annual SHE audits are conducted at the concrete
plants. Environmental risks are also addressed at the monthly SHE forums where deadlines
and targets to minimise environmental risks are set.

Corporate Social Investment (“CSI”)
Wearne acknowledges its responsibility towards the communities in which it operates
as well as broader development projects. Management has approved a budget of 1% of
attributable income towards social development programmes. The ﬁrst of the programmes
will be rolled out in the 2008 ﬁnancial year.
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Directorate and Administration

John Wearne Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
B Rek (Stell) Hons B Compt

John is currently the CEO of WG Wearne Limited (Wearne). He has a B Rek (Stell) and a
Hons B Compt from Unisa. He completed his articles at Bruk Rosenberg and Co in 1997. John
joined Wearne as Financial Manager in 1998, was appointed as Financial Director in 2000
and then as Managing Director in 2003. John is currently the vice-chairman of the South
African Ready Mix Association (SARMA).

Chris Wearne Chief Operations Ofﬁcer
Chris joined Wearne in 1995 as plant supervisor at the stone crushing plant at Kloof Gold
Mine. He progressed to become the plant manager in 1996, and then area manager for
Gauteng in 1999, taking responsibility for three crusher plants. He was appointed as
Crushing Director in 2000 to manage all of Wearne’s crushing operations. He is currently the
Operations Director and is responsible for all of Wearne’s crushing and transport activities.

Owen Harvey Chief Financial Ofﬁcer
B Acc CA (SA)

Owen completed his articles at Clarke and Patterson in 1988 and obtained his CTA degree
at the University of the Witwatersrand at the same time. He qualiﬁed as a Chartered
Accountant in 1989 and was invited to join the ﬁrm as an audit partner in 1990. He left in
2003 to join Wearne as Financial Director.
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Ben du Toit

Chief Mining Ofﬁcer

Ben started his crushing career with Pietersburg Crushers in 1973. He joined Wearne in
1976 at the Polokwane stone quarry and crushing plant. In October 1978 he took up the
challenge of Plant Manager at the Bethlehem quarry and crushing plant. Over the years he
has gained valuable experience in drilling, blasting and crushing. In addition, Ben has much
knowledge of environmental management, as well as practical experience with heavy earth
moving equipment and on-road transport vehicles. In 1983 Ben’s involvement with ready
mixed concrete began when Wearne erected a concrete plant in Bethlehem. He has been in
charge of the Group’s Limpopo and Free State quarrying operations since 2003.

Bonke Mkhonto

Non-Executive Director

Bonke joined Grinaker Housing in 1990 as a contract manager and when he resigned to
start his own business he was the managing director of Grinaker Housing. From 2001 to
2004 Bonke was the managing director of Jericho Ready Mixed Concrete. In 2005 he started
Imisebe Trading CC. Imisebe Trading CC completed a housing project in Heidelberg in a
joint venture with Grinaker-LTA Building, and is currently busy with a large housing project
for the Gauteng Department of Housing in a joint venture with M5 Developments (Pty)
Limited (Registration number 2000/004586/07).

Ernest Moloi Non-Executive Director
Associate Degree in Engineering from New York Technical College USA
Ernest is currently the President of the National Federation for the Building Industry
(NAFBI). He was one of the ﬁrst few Black South Africans to own and operate a successful
civil construction company. He has vast experience and core skills in civil engineering
and management. Ernest’s experience includes road construction, earth works, sewer
reticulation, water reticulation, canal construction, landﬁll rehabilitation and development
and minor concrete constructions.
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Statement of Responsibility
by the Board of Directors
The Board of directors of WG Wearne Limited (“Wearne”) present their report on the
activities of the Company and the Group for the year ended 28 February 2007.
The directors of Wearne are responsible for the preparation of the annual ﬁnancial
statements and other information presented in the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries in a manner that fairly presents the state of affairs and results of the operations
of the Company and the Group. The annual ﬁnancial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The external auditors
are responsible for carrying out an independent examination of the ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing and reporting their ﬁndings thereon.
The auditors’ report is set out below.
The Directors are also responsible for the Company’s system of internal ﬁnancial controls.
These are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of
the ﬁnancial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability
of assets, and to prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the
attention of the Directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of
these controls, procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.
The directors have no reason to believe that the Company and the Group will not continue
as going concerns in the year ahead.
The directors accept responsibility for the annual ﬁnancial statements of the Group and
the Company for the year ended 28 February 2007, set out on pages 32 to 56, which were
approved by the Board on 10 May 2007 and are signed on their behalf.

SJ Wearne
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

OJG Harvey
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer

14 May 2007
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Declaration by Secretary

In terms of Section 268G(d) of the Companies Act of 1973, as amended, I hereby certify that
the Company has lodged, with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required
of a public company, in terms of the Companies Act, No 61 of 1973, as amended, and that
all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

OJG HARVEY
Company Secretary
14 May 2007
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Report of the
Independent Auditors
We have audited the annual ﬁnancial statements and Group annual ﬁnancial statements
of W.G. Wearne Limited, which comprise the directors’ report, the balance sheets as at 28
February 2007, the income statements, the statements of changes in equity and cash ﬂow
statements for the year then ended, and a summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 32 to 56.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
ﬁnancial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and
in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of ﬁnancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the ﬁnancial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the ﬁnancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the ﬁnancial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the ﬁnancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the ﬁnancial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufﬁcient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the ﬁnancial statements and Group annual ﬁnancial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the ﬁnancial position of the Company and of the Group as of
28 February 2007, and of their ﬁnancial performance and cash ﬂows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required
by the Companies Act of South Africa.

CLARKE AND PATTERSON
Registered Accountants and Auditors
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Johannesburg
14 May 2007
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their annual report which forms part of the audited ﬁnancial statements
of the Company and the Group for the year ended 28 February 2007.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company at year-end were:
SJ WEARNE

JC WEARNE

BJ DU TOIT

OJG HARVEY

B MKHONTO

E MOLOI

The composition of the Board remained unchanged during the year.

SHAREHOLDING OF DIRECTORS
Details of the number of shares in the Company held by the directors at year-end is as
follows:
2007
Executive directors

2006

Direct

Indirect

Direct

Indirect

SJ Wearne

15 897 867

-

15 807 867

-

JC Wearne

12 897 867

-

12 807 867

-

OJG Harvey

3 090 000

-

3 000 000

-

33 000

-

BJ du Toit

123 000
32 008 734

-

31 648 734

-

E Moloi

-

6 250 000

-

6 250 000

B Mkhonto

-

6 250 000

-

6 250 000

-

12 500 000

-

12 500 000

32 008 734

12 500 000

31 648 734

12 500 000

Non-executive directors

Total

Included in the direct holdings of the directors reﬂected above are the following shares
held by them by way of the WG Wearne Share Incentive Scheme. These shares have been
allocated to directors but are still registered in the name of the trust and have not yet been
paid for, so they may not be traded. Their sale is also subject to restrictions, since they may
only be sold in tranches over the next four years, and subject to payment being made. In the
analysis of shareholders presented on page 58 of this report they are reﬂected as part of the
5 million shares held by the share trust.
2007

2006

SJ Wearne

90 000

-

JC Wearne

90 000

-

OJG Harvey

90 000

-

BJ du Toit

90 000

-

360 000

-

The shares listed above were all beneﬁcially held and no changes have taken place in these
holdings between the year-end date and the date of this report.
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The Company’s designated advisers held 2 100 000 (2006: 2 150 000) shares directly and
indirectly in the ordinary share capital of the Company as at 28 February 2007.
These shares were all beneﬁcially held. Before the end of the ﬁnancial year 200 000 of these
shares were sold, but transfer thereof had not yet been effected at year-end.
One-half of the original number of shares held by the directors and the designated advisers
at the date the Company’s shares were listed are held in trust by the Company’s auditors, as
required by the regulations of the Alternative Exchange of the JSE Limited.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
The directors’ remuneration is reﬂected in full on page 57 of the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL
On 2 March 2006, 5 000 000 ordinary shares were allotted to WG Wearne Share Incentive
Scheme at 100 cents per share (a premium of 99.9 cents per share). Employees had agreed
to take up 4 185 000 shares prior to the listing, subject to the conditions of the trust deed
and of the offer made to them.
On 1 November 2006 a private placement of 20 000 000 ordinary shares at 270 cents
per share (a premium of 269.9 cents per share) was made. The capital raised was used to
partially ﬁnance the purchase of the de Bruyn Sand assets.
In terms of a resolutions passed at the annual general meeting, and valid until the next
annual general meeting, the Company authorised the directors, subject to the regulations
of the JSE Limited, to:- repurchase shares in the Company, by special resolution and
- allot and issue for cash any shares in the Company, limited to 50% of the Company’s
issued capital, by ordinary resolution.
An analysis of the Company’s shareholders is provided on page 58 of the annual report. At
28 February 2007 there were 2654 public shareholders in the Company, who held 41.45%
of the ordinary shares. Those shareholders holding 5 percent or more of the Company’s
issued capital are as follows:

Shareholder

Number of Shares Held

%

The Samant Trust

38 678 517

25.79

SJ Wearne (Director)

15 897 867

10.60

JC Wearne (Director)

12 897 867

8.60

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture, marketing and transport
of crushed stone, sand and ready mixed concrete in the Gauteng, North West, Free State
and Limpopo Provinces.

33

GENERAL REVIEW
The Group’s business and operations, and the results thereof, are reﬂected in the attached
ﬁnancial statements and no other fact or circumstance material to a fair assessment of the
ﬁnancial position of the Group has occurred.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Company acquired the assets of a drilling and blasting operation for the amount of
R19.7 million. This transaction had been concluded at the time of this report. Subject to
certain conditions precedent, two quarry operations in Tzaneen and in Pietermaritzburg
have been acquired for a maximum purchase consideration of R55 million. These latter
transactions have not yet been concluded, and the purchase considerations are subject
to certain proﬁt warranties. The Tzaneen acquisition will expand Wearne’s presence in the
fast growing Limpopo province aggregate market and the Pietermaritzburg acquisition will
strategically position Wearne to expand its geographical footprint to include KwaZuluNatal. The acquisition of these assets will be ﬁnanced through conventional borrowing
facilities from ﬁnancial institutions.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
During the year Property, plant and equipment amounting to R135 million was acquired in
the purchase of the W de Bruyn Sand businesses. There have been no other major changes
in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the period or any changes in the
policy relating to their use, except as disclosed elsewhere in the ﬁnancial statements.

BORROWINGS
The borrowing powers of the directors are unlimited. During the ﬁnancial year Group net
long term borrowings increased by R65.5 million, of which R60 million was utilised to
ﬁnance the acquisition of the de Bruyn Sand property, plant and equipment, and the balance
was invested in plant and delivery vehicles to provide the equipment required for certain
contracts and to meet increased sales volumes.

DIVIDENDS
In line with Group policy no dividend has been declared for the year

GROUP STRUCTURE
The Group consists of the Company and the following subsidiaries and special purpose
entities:

Entity

WG Wearne Logistics (Pty) Limited
Noordvaal Crushers (Pty) Limited

Issued

Held

Capital

by Group

R

%

3

100

16 000

100

The WG Wearne Rehabilitation Trust
The WG Wearne Share Incentive Scheme
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ASSOCIATES
The holding company holds 49 shares (49% of the issued capital) in Senatla Structures
(Pty) Limited. This company is currently dormant.

THE WG WEARNE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
This trust was registered on 2 March 2006, and 5 million shares in the Company were allotted
to it on that date. Prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Alternative Exchange of
JSE Ltd on 21 February 2006, an offer was made to its employees, with the approval of the
JSE, to take up shares in the Company at the listing price of 100 cents per share. Employees
agreed to take up 4 185 000 shares. The 885 000 shares which were not originally taken up
by employees were offered to directors and senior management on 20 December 2006 at
the price of 340 cents. These shares were all taken up on that date, when the market price of
the Company’s shares was 395 cents. The difference of 55 cents between the market price
and the allocation price on the date that the offer was accepted has been accounted for as
a share-based payment, and will be amortised over the four year period over which the sale
of the shares is restricted.Of the 5 million shares allocated to employees during the year,
170 000 were repurchased from employees at the original offer price of 100 cents per share
and 465 500 have been on-sold by employees before the year-end, but transfer of those
shares had not been effected by 28 February 2007.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
An overview of the corporate governance structures and the compliance of the Group with
corporate governance requirements is presented on page 14 of the annual report.
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Annual Financial Statements and Group
Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 28 February 2007
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Balance Sheets

Notes

2007
R

COMPANY
2006
R

2007
R

GROUP
2006
R

223 715 996
213 839 069
3 000 001
152 619
49
1 551 265
5 172 993

52 060 936
47 909 303
3 000 001
152 619
49
998 964
-

269 912 461
263 898 097
2 418 638
49
3 595 677
-

68 786 895
64 004 353
2 418 638
49
2 363 855
-

78 530 442
13 857 170
56 267 139
8 406 133

59 803 955
10 100 269
29 915 363
19 788 323

82 046 928
13 857 170
58 707 772
9 481 986

60 319 240
10 100 269
30 232 775
19 986 196

302 246 438

111 864 891

351 959 389

129 106 135

134 377 246
150 000
82 417 393
18 670
51 791 183

54 888 171
125 000
23 442 393
31 320 778

139 313 186
145 466
77 462 628
18 670
61 686 422

58 760 289
125 000
23 442 393
35 192 896

89 363 975
12 794 011
28 116 671
38 732 476
9 720 817

20 612 421
5 461 256
9 683 157
5 468 008

132 110 817
12 794 011
28 116 671
78 031 280
13 168 855

33 002 873
5 461 256
20 815 424
6 726 193

78 505 217
48 536 234
15 600 503
13 078 400
1 290 080

36 364 299
27 473 928
5 777 624
1 156 680
1 956 067

80 535 386
51 969 380
26 851 126
1 714 880

37 342 973
28 076 933
7 309 973
1 956 067

111 864 891

351 959 389

129 106 135

125 000 000
43.9
43.9

145 465 500
95.8
94.1

125 000 000
47.0
45.1

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Investment in subsidiaries
Loans to subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Investments
Loans to group entities
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

2, 13, 14
3
4
4
5
6
7

9

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Non-distributable reserves
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities
Environmental obligations
Secured loans
Instalment sale creditors
Deferred taxation
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current portion of non-current liabilities
Loans from subsidiaries
Taxation
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Number of shares in issue
Net asset value per share (cents)
Net tangible asset value per share (cents)

10
10
11

12
13
14
15

13,14
4

302 246 438

150 000 000
89.6
89.6
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Income Statements

Notes
Revenue

2007
R

COMPANY
2006
R

2007
R

2006
R

196 539 992

352 499 388

196 601 607

341 226 522

GROUP

Cost of sales

(253 362 090)

Gross proﬁt

87 864 432

52 692 275

106 366 344

1 777 953

1 944 568

1 789 419

(46 315 404)

(31 745 720)

(48 876 721)

(33 444 682)

43 326 981
(11 615 977)

22 891 123
(4 542 421)

59 279 042
(16 484 052)

29 996 224
(6 241 167)

31 711 004

18 348 702

42 794 990

23 755 057

Other income

19

Administration expenses
Proﬁt before interest, taxation, depreciation and
amortisation
Depreciation
Proﬁt before interest and taxation
Net interest paid

(3 451 722)

Proﬁt before taxation

20

Taxation

22

Proﬁt after taxation

28 259 282

(143 847 717) (246 133 044)

(838 584)

(6 461 607)

17 510 118

36 333 383

(135 113 147)
61 488 460
1 952 446

(2 153 891)
21 601 166

(8 061 705)

(4 860 773)

(10 251 557)

(5 868 219)

20 197 577

12 649 345

26 081 826

15 732 947

20 197 577

12 649 345

26 081 826

15 732 947

Reconciliation of headline earnings:
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Adjusted for proﬁt on disposal of property, plant
and equipment (after tax)
Headline earnings

20 013 803

11 620 656

25 898 052

14 704 258

Weighted average no of shares in issue

131 584 270

100 547 945

131 584 270

100 547 945

Treasury shares

(183 774)

(1 028 689)

(183 774)

(1 028 689)

4 534 500

-

4 534 500

-

Fully diluted weighted average no of shares in issue

136 118 770

100 547 945

136 118 770

100 547 945

Basic earnings per share (cents)
Adjusted for proﬁt on disposal of property, plant
and equipment (after tax) (cents)
Headline earnings per share (cents)

15.34

12.58

19.82

15.65

(0.14)
15.20

(1.02)
11.56

(0.14)
19.68

(1.02)
14.63

Fully diluted earnings per share (cents)

14.84

12.58

19.16

15.65

Fully diluted headline earnings per share (cents)

14.70

11.56

19.03

14.63

Number of shares in issue

150 000 000

125 000 000

145 465 500

125 000 000

Dividend per share (cents)

0

0

0

0
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Statements of Changes in Equity

COMPANY

Nondistributable

Share

Share

Accumulated

reserves

premium

capital

proﬁts

R

R

R

R

R

Balance at 1 March 2005

-

-

82 625

18 614 912

18 697 537

Net Income recognised directly in equity

-

-

-

56 521

56 521

Total

Gain on available for sale investments

-

-

-

56 521

56 521

Total recognised income and expenses

-

-

-

12 649 345

12 649 345

Proﬁt for the year

-

-

-

12 649 345

12 649 345

Share capital issued

-

23 442 393

42 375

-

23 484 768

Balance at 28 February 2006

-

23 442 393

125 000

31 320 778

54 888 171

Net income recognised directly in equity

-

-

-

272 828

272 828

Gain on available for sale investments

-

-

-

272 828

272 828

Total recognised income and expenses

-

-

20 197 577

20 197 577

Proﬁt for the year

-

-

-

20 197 577

20 197 577

Share capital issued

-

58 975 000

25 000

-

59 000 000

18 670
18 670

82 417 393

150 000

51 791 183

18 670
134 377 246

Share based payment reserve
Balance at 28 February 2007

GROUP

Nondistributable

Share

Share

Accumulated

reserves

premium

capital

proﬁts

R

R

R

R

R

Balance at 1 March 2005

-

-

82 625

19 278 611

19 361 236

Net income recognised directly in equity

-

-

-

181 338

181 338

Gain on available for sale investments

-

-

-

Total recognised income and expenses

Total

181 338

181 338

15 732 947

15 732 947
15 732 947

Proﬁt for the year

-

-

-

15 732 947

Shares capital issued

-

-

42 375

-

42 375

Premium on share capital issued

-

23 442 393

-

-

23 442 393

Balance at 28 February 2006

-

23 442 393

125 000

35 192 896

58 760 289

Net income recognised directly in equity

-

-

-

411 700

411 700

Gain on available for sale investments

-

-

-

411700

411 700

Total recognised income and expenses

-

-

-

26 081 826

26 081 826

Proﬁt for the year

-

-

-

26 081 826

26 081 826

-

54 020 235

20 466

-

54 040 701

18 670
18 670

77 462 628

145 466

61 686 422

18 670
139 313 186

Share capital issued
Share based payment reserve
Balance at 28 February 2007
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Cash Flow Statements

COMPANY
2007

GROUP
2006

2007

2006

R

R

R

R

Cash ﬂows from Operating Activities

26 113 850

15 510 380

39 762 945

22 533 571

Proﬁt before taxation

Notes

28 259 282

17 510 118

36 333 383

21 601 166

Net interest paid

3 451 722

838 584

6 461 607

2 168 913

Dividends received

(846 392)

Depreciation

11 615 977

Proﬁt on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(258 836)

Transfer to share-based payment reserve
Operating proﬁt before changes in working capital

(1 243)
4 542 421
(1 407 954)

(857 858)
16 484 052
(258 836)

(9 121)
6 241 167
(1 407 954)

18 670

-

18 670

-

42 240 423

21 481 926

58 181 018

28 594 171

Changes in working capital items

(9 046 361)

(411 263)

(8 339 441)

822 133

Inventories

(3 756 902)

(800 760)

(3 756 902)

(800 760)

(26 306 230)

(5 659 638)

(28 644 496)

(4 310 101)

21 016 771

6 049 135

24 061 957

5 932 994

Cash generated from operations

33 194 062

21 070 663

48 841 577

29 416 304

Less -

(7 080 212)

(5 560 283)

(10 078 632)

(6 882 733)

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Interest received

1 891 141

Interest paid

(5 342 863)

Dividends received
Taxation paid

846 392
27.1

(4 474 882)

941 480
(1 780 064)
1243

1 941 513

941 879

(8 403 120)

(3 110 792)

857 858

(4 722 942)

(4 474 883)

9 121
(4 722 941)

Cash ﬂows from Investing Activities

(170 817 664)

(18 637 263)

(216 939 091)

(27 015 364)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(179 078 713)

(19 825 545)

(217 910 765)

(26 685 546)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiary

1 791 798
27.3

-

Investment in associate

-

Loans from subsidiaries

11 921 720

Loans to Special Purpose Entity
Investments
Cash ﬂows from Financing Activities

2 832 635
(3 000 000)
(49)

1 791 798

2 832 635

-

(2 763 474)

-

(49)

1 156 680

-

-

( 5 172 993)

-

-

-

(279 476)

199 016

(820 124)

(398 930)

133 321 624

27 738 190

166 671 935

29 291 301

25 000

42 375

20 465

42 375

Premium on shares issued

58 975 000

23 442 393

54 445 035

23 442 393

Non-current liabilities

64 498 745

2 948 876

9 822 879

2 952 478

9 822 879

1 304 546

102 383 556

2 854 055

Share capital

Short Term loans
Net cash inﬂows (outﬂows)

(11 382 190)

24 611 307

(10 504 211)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year

19 788 323

(4 822 984)

19 986 197

(4 823 312)

8 406 133

19 788 323

9 481 986

19 986 196

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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27.2

24 809 508

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK
The ﬁnancial statements are prepared under the going concern principle on the historical cost basis, modiﬁed by the restatement of
available for sale ﬁnancial instruments to fair value where applicable, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and incorporate the following principle accounting policies, which are consistent with those of the previous year.
Adoption of new and revised standards
The following new or revised standards and interpretations were effective at the time of preparation of these ﬁnancial statements,
and were adopted, and have resulted in changes to the accounting policies and ﬁnancial statements as follows:
IFRS 4 and 6, IAS 19 and IAS 39 revisions and IFRIC 4, 5, 6 and 7 – no material impact
The following new standards and interpretations were issued at the time of preparation of these ﬁnancial statements, but were not
yet effective, and have not been yet adopted:
IFRS 7 and 8, IAS 1 revision and IAS 23, IFRIC 8, 9, 11 and 12 and AC 503
The directors’ anticipate that the adopting of these standards and interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on
the ﬁnancial statements of the Company and of the Group.
Prior period error correction
Following the issue of circular 09/06 by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants Accounting Practices Committee the
treatment of rebates and discounts in the ﬁnancial statements has been amended. These were not correctly accounted for in prior
years, as they were reﬂected in the income statement as other income. In accordance with the circular 09/06, these items are now
reﬂected as a reduction to cost of sales and the prior year amounts have been adjusted accordingly. The effect of the correction of
this adjustment on the ﬁnancial statements is described in note 26 below.

1.1

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements incorporate the ﬁnancial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries and special
purpose entities that, in substance, are controlled by the Group. Results of subsidiaries are included from the effective date
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
ﬁnancial and operating policies of an investee enterprise so as to obtain beneﬁt from its activities.
The assets and liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair values of the identiﬁable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.
All signiﬁcant transactions and balances between group enterprises are eliminated on consolidation.
Associates
Associated companies are those entities which are not subsidiaries or joint ventures, in which the Group exercises signiﬁcant
inﬂuence, through participation in ﬁnancial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

1.2

Property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less provision for depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes all costs
directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use.
Land is considered to have an inﬁnite life and is not depreciated.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the depreciable amount of the assets over their estimated useful lives to estimated
residual values, using a method that reﬂects the pattern in which the asset’s future beneﬁts are expected to be consumed
by the entity. Where signiﬁcant parts of an asset have different useful lives to the item itself, these parts are depreciated
separately over their estimated useful lives. Where an asset has an estimated residual value equal to or greater than its carrying
value it is no longer depreciated. The methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually.
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Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis, and the estimated useful lives applied to each category of ﬁxed assets
is as follows:Land
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Rehabilitation Assets
Vehicles
Ofﬁce Furniture and Equipment
Computer Equipment and Software
1.3

-

No depreciation provided
20 - 50 years
1 - 10 years
15 years
5 - 10 years
5 - 10 years
2 - 3 years

Impairment of assets
The carrying amount of the Group’s assets, other than inventories (excluding goodwill) are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its
recoverable amount is estimated as the higher of its net selling price and its value in use, and an impairment loss is realized if
the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are charged against income in the period in
which they are identiﬁed.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but limited to the amount which would have been its carrying amount had no such impairment losses
been applied. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in income in the period in which it is identiﬁed.

1.4

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis.

1.5

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on an average cost basis and where
applicable includes an appropriate share of manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated cost of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Where necessary,
provision is made for obsolete, slow moving and defective stock.

1.6

Taxation
Taxation on the proﬁt or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at
the balance sheet date.
The charge for deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities in the ﬁnancial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable proﬁt,
and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable proﬁts will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax proﬁt nor the accounting proﬁt.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled.
Additional taxes arising from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the dividend.

1.7

Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of goods and services is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable, net of discounts,
rebates and value added tax, and is recognised at either the date the risk and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed
to the customer or when services are performed.
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Rental income is recorded in the ﬁnancial statements in terms of the lease agreements with tenants, and on a straight-line
basis over the period of each lease where this is material and applicable.
Interest income is recorded in the ﬁnancial statements on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal amount and
the effective rate over the period.
Dividend income is recorded in the ﬁnancial statements when the right to receive payment is established.
1.8

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are charged against income in the period in which they are incurred.

1.9

Employee beneﬁts
The group operates a deﬁned contribution plan which is available to all eligible employees. The plan is funded by company
and employee contributions. The plan is governed by the Pension Funds Act and is managed by a major insurance company.
The company’s contributions to the plan are charged to the income statement in the year to which they relate.
The Group does not provide post-retirement healthcare beneﬁts for employees.

1.10 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash ﬂow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks,
investment in money market instruments and bank overdrafts.
1.11 Segmental reporting
The group supplies aggregates and ready mixed concrete to customers. The board considers that the supply of these materials
to the construction industry is the predominant activity of the Group and, as a result, no segmental report has been included
in the ﬁnancial statements.
1.12 Decommissioning and quarry rehabilitation
Group companies are required to restore quarry and processing sites at the end of their productive lives to a condition
acceptable to the relevant authorities. A rehabilitation trust fund had been established at the request of the regulatory
authorities, and annual contributions had been made to the trust as required, in order for the ultimate rehabilitation cost
to be provided for at the end of the of the useful life of the site. These contributions are expensed in the Company ﬁnancial
statements, but on consolidation are reﬂected as additions to rehabilitation investments.
The expected costs of any decommissioning and rehabilitation program, discounted to its net present value, are capitalised at
the beginning of a project and amortised over the estimated remaining useful life of the mining asset. The increase or decrease
in the net present value of the provision for the expected cost is included with ﬁnance costs.
1.13 Leases
Leases are classiﬁed as ﬁnance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classiﬁed as operating leases, and where material, these are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Classiﬁcation is made at the inception of the leases.
1.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events for which
it is probable that an outﬂow of economic beneﬁts will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made for the amount of the obligation. Where the effect of discounting to present value is material, provisions are adjusted
to reﬂect the time value of money. This includes the Group’s environmental obligations.
1.15 Financial instruments
Financial instruments recognised on the balance sheet include investments, trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables and interest bearing debt. Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value,
which includes transaction costs, except for those items carried at fair value through proﬁt or loss, when the Company or
group is party to a contractual arrangement. Subsequent measurement is set out on the next page.
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Investments
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are recorded at cost, less impairments. Other investments are classiﬁed as available
for sale investments and are reﬂected at fair value and gains and losses are recognised in equity.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less provisions for impairments. Where the effect of discounting
is immaterial, short duration receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at original invoice amount less provision
for impairment. Impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of sale. Signiﬁcant ﬁnancial difﬁculties of the debtor, or delinquency in payments,
are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The impairment is expensed in the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at cost which is equivalent to fair value.
Equity
Equity Instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at amortised cost. Where the effect of discounting is immaterial, trade payables with
no stated interest rate are measured at original invoice amount.
1.16 The use of estimates, judgements and assumptions made in the preparation of the ﬁnancial statements
Preparing ﬁnancial statements in conformity with IFRS requires estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts
and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Certain accounting policies have been identiﬁed as
involving particularly complex or subjective judgements or assessments, as follows:
Decommissioning and rehabilitation obligations
Quantifying the future costs of these obligations is complex and requires various estimates to be made thereof, as well as
interpretations of and decisions regarding regulatory requirements, particularly with respect to the degree of rehabilitation
required, with reference to the sensitivity of the environmental area surrounding the sites. Consequently, the guidelines for
quantifying the future rehabilitation cost of a site, as issued by the Department of Mineral and Energy, have been used to
estimate future rehabilitation costs.
Property, plant an equipment
The useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are assessed annually in order for depreciation
to be provided. The actual lives and residual values of assets may vary depending on several factors. Consideration has to be
given to whether components of an asset have different useful lives to the rest of the asset, whether such a component forms
a signiﬁcant part of the asset’s original cost, and whether subsequent expenditure on assets is to be treated as maintenance
or to be capitalized.
Leases
Vehicle leases have been classiﬁed as operating leases since the Board has concluded that terms of the lease do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
Trade and other receivables
Impairment of trade and other receivables requires the consideration of the impairment indicators, namely signiﬁcant ﬁnancial
difﬁculties of the debtor, or delinquency in payments.
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1.17 Related party transactions
The group, its subsidiaries and special purpose entities, in the ordinary course of business, enter into various sales, purchase
and service transactions between group entities. These transactions are under terms that are no less favourable than those
arranged with third parties and are shown in note 23.
Subsidiaries and special purpose entities
Details of subsidiaries and special purpose entities are disclosed in note 4.
Shareholders
Details of principal shareholders of the Group and a summary of the non-public shareholders are shown in the shareholder
analysis on page 58 of the annual report.
Directors
Details of transactions and balances with directors are provided in the notes to the ﬁnancial statements. Details of Directors
remuneration are provided on page 57 of the annual report.
1.18 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net proﬁt by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the
year. The shares in the employee trust which have not yet been paid for are treated as treasury shares and excluded from the
weighted average number of shares in the earnings per share calculation. They are subsequently treated as a dilution when
calculating the diluted earnings per share.

2

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consists of the following items:
COMPANY

2007

2006

Cost Accumulated
Owned Assets
Land and buildings

Carrying

Cost Accumulated

Carrying

Price

Depreciation

Value

Price

Depreciation

R

R

R

R

R

Value
R

114 400 203

93 601

114 306 602

5 409 737

82 837

5 326 900

Rehabilitation assets

9 422 617

1 965 973

7 456 644

3 329 406

1 678 292

1 651 114

Plant and equipment

50 242 271

20 130 523

30 111 748

30 068 310

15 573 722

14 494 588

Vehicles

23 466 854

97 334 944

40 621 265

56 713 679

60 451 147

36 984 293

Ofﬁce furniture & equipment

1 313 937

686 248

627 689

955 081

527 148

427 933

Computer equipment & software

2 379 736

1 299 616

1 080 120

2 541 614

1 449 368

1 092 246

3 542 587
278 636 295

64 797 226

3 542 587
213 839 069

1 449 668
104 204 963

56 295 660

1 449 668
47 909 303

Plant under construction
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GROUP

2007
Cost Accumulated

Carrying

Cost Accumulated

Carrying

Price Depreciation

Value

Price Depreciation

Value

R

R

R

R

R

R

114 574 722

93 601

114 481 121

5 584 255

82 836

5 501 419

9 422 617

1 965 973

7 456 644

3 329 406

1 678 292

1 651 114

Owned Assets
Land and buildings
Rehabilitation assets
Plant and equipment

2006

50 247 602

20 130 790

30 116 812

30 068 310

15 573 722

14 494 588

154 284 355

47 713 026

106 571 329

78 589 495

39 214 819

39 374 676

Ofﬁce furniture & equipment

1 319 355

687 692

631 663

960 499

528 050

432 449

Computer equipment & software

2 411 621

1 313 680

1 097 941

2 557 840

1 457 401

1 100 439

3 542 587
71 904 762 263 898 097

1 449 668
122 539 473

58 535 120

1 449 668
64 004 353

Disposals Depreciation

End of year

Vehicles

Plant under construction

3 542 587
335 802 859

The carrying amounts can be reconciled as follows:
COMPANY
Carrying value
Land and buildings
Rehabilitation assets

Start of year

Additions

R

R

R

5 326 900 108 990 467

-

1 651 114

6 093 211

Plant and equipment

14 494 588

20 346 767

Vehicles

23 466 854

40 796 492

Ofﬁce furniture & equipment
Computer equipment & software
Plant under construction

(17 826)

R

R

(10 765) 114 306 602
(287 681)

7 456 644

(4 711 781)

30 111 748

(1 515 134) (6 034 533)

56 713 679

427 933

358 856

-

(159 100)

627 689

1 092 246

399 991

-

(412 117)

1 080 120

1 449 668
47 909 303

2 092 919
179 078 703

Start of year

Additions

R

R

R

R

R

5 501 419 108 990 466

-

(10 764)

114 481 121

3 542 587
(1 532 960) (11 615 977) 213 839 069

GROUP
Carrying value
Land and buildings

Disposals Depreciation

Rehabilitation assets

1 651 114

6 093 211

Plant and equipment

14 494 588

20 352 098

Vehicles

39 374 676

79 607 556

432 449

358 856

-

(159 642)

631 663

1 100 439

415 650

-

(418 148)

1 097 941

1 449 668
64 004 353

2 092 919
217 910 756

Ofﬁce furniture & equipment
Computer equipment & software
Plant under construction

-

End of year

(287 681)

7 456 644

(4 712 048)

30 116 812

(1 515 134) (10 895 769)

106 571 329

(17 826)

3 542 587
(1 532 960) (16 484 052) 263 898 097

A schedule of the Group’s land and buildings may be inspected by members at the Group’s registered ofﬁce in Cresta.

3

GOODWILL
This represents the excess of the purchase price of the shares in subsidiary WG Wearne Logistics (Pty) Ltd over the fair value of the
net assets acquired.
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4

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY
Shares

2007
Issued Percentage

Company Name

Capital

WG Wearne Logistics (Pty) Limited

Held

2006

Cost

Cost

Price

Price

R

%

R

R

3

100

3 000 000

3 000 000

16000

100

1

1

3 000 001

3 000 001

(Registration number 1970/005983/07)

Noordvaal Crushers (Pty) Limited
(Registration number 1964/001382/07)

Special purpose entities
The WG Wearne Rehabilitation Trust (Master’s Ofﬁce Pretoria no IT 497/99)
The WG Wearne Share Incentive Scheme (Master’s Ofﬁce Pretoria no IT 3250/06)
Loans to subsidiaries
Noordvaal Crushers (Pty) Limited

152 619

152 619

152 619

152 619

13 078 400
13 078 400

1 156 680
1 156 680

Loans from subsidiaries
WG Wearne Logistics (Pty) Limited

5

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Issued Percentage
Capital
Held
R
%
100
49

Company Name
Senatla Structures (Pty) Limited

COMPANY AND GROUP
2007
2006
Cost
Cost
Price
Price
R
R
49
49
49
49

This company is dormant.

6

INVESTMENTS
COMPANY
2007

2006

2007

R

R

R

R

Type of

Market

Market

Market

Market

Investment

Value

Value

Value

Value

Unlisted investments as follows:
Financial Institution

GROUP
2006

Held by WG Wearne Limited Stanlib Wealth Management Ltd
Old Mutual PLC

Unit Trust

1 551 265

672 130

1 551 265

672 130

Endowment Policy

-

326 834

-

326 833

Unit Trust

1 551 265

998 964

2 044 412
3 595 677

1 364 892
2 363 855

Held by WG Wearne Rehabilitation Trust Stanlib Wealth Management Ltd

The Stanlib Wealth Management Ltd Unit Trust held by the WG Wearne Rehabilitation Trust is not available for use by the Group, other than
for its intended use for site rehabilitation in accordance with the trust deed and the directions of the Department of Minerals and Energy.
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7

LOANS TO GROUP ENTITIES
This loan is to the WG Wearne Share Incentive Scheme is unsecured and currently bears interest at 9% per annum. Repayments are
made when funds are available.

8

LOANS TO SHARE TRUST PARTICIPANTS
GROUP

Treasury shares unpaid for in share trust deducted from equity per note 10 below
Shares unallocated in share trust

2007

2006

R

R

6 658 499

-

(170 000)

-

6 488 499
Loans to share trust participants
Net balance included in trade and other receivables

(6 395 619)
92 880

-

The loans made from the WG Wearne Share Incentive Scheme to the participants of the share scheme have been set off on
consolidation against the unpaid for and allocated shares in the trust. They bear interest at the income tax ofﬁcial interest rate for
fringe beneﬁts. They are secured by pledge of shares and the terms of repayment are per the trust deed and per each offer for shares
made to employees. The current terms are that the loans be repaid prior to shares being sold, and the sale of shares is restricted to
four tranches over a four-year period.

9

INVENTORIES
COMPANY AND GROUP
2007

2006

R

R

The amounts attributable to the different categories are as follows:
Fuel, tyres and spare parts
Raw materials
Finished goods

785 290

1 347 145

3 164 637

2 463 332

9 907 243 6 289 792
13 857 170 10 100 269

10 SHARE CAPITAL
COMPANY
2007

2006

R

R

Authorised - 500 000 000 Ordinary shares of 0.1 cent each

500 000

500 000

Issued -125 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.1 cents at start of year
5 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.1 cents issued at a premium of 99.9 c

125 000
5 000

82 625
17 375

20 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.1 cents issued at a premium of 269.9 c
150 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.1 cents at end of year
Share Premium - at start of year
ordinary shares of 0.1 cents issued at a premium of 99.9 c
ordinary shares of 0.1 cents issued at a premium of 269.9 c
share issue expenses written off
at end of year

20 000

25 000

150 000

125 000

23 442 393
4 995 000 24 975 000
53 980 000
-

(1 532 607)

82 417 393 23 442 393

The ordinary shares shall have 1 vote in respect of each share at any meeting of the shareholders of the holding company, the right
to receive a dividend if declared and the right to participate in the capital surplus on winding up of the holding company.
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Reconciliation of share capital

GROUP
2007

2006

R

R

Share capital - per company above

150 000

125 000

Treasury shares – 4 534 500 unpaid for shares of 0.1 cents in share trust

(4 534)
145 466

125 000

Share premium - per company above
Employee share trust shares allotted at 100 cents and allocated to employees
at 340 cents (premium of 240 cents)
Share Issue Expenses written off

82 417 393

23 442 393

2 124 000
(424 800)

-

Premium of 99.9 cents on 3 649 500 treasury shares unpaid for in share trust

(3 645 850)

-

Premium of 339.9 cents on 885 000 treasury shares unpaid for in share trust

(3 008 115)
77 462 628 23 442 393

The surplus arising from the difference between the original price of 100 cents that shares were allotted at to the WG Wearne
Share Incentive Scheme, and the subsequent allocation price of 340 cents to employees, has been treated as share premium on
consolidation, and the capital gains tax on this surplus treated as share issue expenses. The unpaid-for shares in the share trust are
treated as a deduction from share capital and share premium on consolidation.

11 NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
COMPANY
2007

2006

R

R

-

-

18 670
18 670

-

The non-distributable reserves represents share based payment expenses as follows:Balance at beginning of year
Movements during the year –
Transfer to non-distributable reserves
Balance at end of year

12 ENVIRONMENTAL OBLIGATIONS
COMPANY AND GROUP

The Group is obliged to restore mining sites at the end of their productive lives to a condition acceptable
to the regulatory authorities. These liabilities are provisions for estimated future restoration costs,
discounted to their present value.
Balance at beginning of year

2007

2006

R

R

5 461 256

5 056 719

Amounts added –
Additional sites
Unwinding of discount
Balance at end of year

6 818 612

-

514 143
12 794 011

404 537
5 461 256
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13 SECURED LOANS
COMPANY AND GROUP
2007
2006
R
R
33 298 211
(5 181 540)
28 116 671
-

ABSA Bank Limited
Less current portion included in current liabilities
Non-current portion

This loan bears interest at a ﬁxed rate of 11.78% per annum, is secured by mortgage bonds amounting to R103 000 000 registered over
certain of the Group’s land and buildings and is repayable in monthly instalments amounting to R730 251 over the next 5 years.

14 INSTALMENT SALE CREDITORS

Nedbank Limited
First National Bank Limited - Wesbank
DaimlerChrysler Services (Pty) Limited
ABSA Bank Limited
Standard Bank Limited
Less current portion included in current liabilities
Non-current portion

COMPANY
2007
2006
R
R
14 035 567
7 057 683
15 224 969
6 218 777
2 291 239
2 184 321
17 599 664
49 151 439 15 460 781
(10 418 963) (5 777 624)
38 732 476
9 683 157

GROUP
2007
2006
R
R
14 035 567
7 057 684
28 161 453
6 218 777
19 701 167 14 848 936
32 665 700
5 136 979
99 700 866 28 125 397
(21 669 586) (7 309 973)
78 031 280 20 815 424

These liabilities are secured by instalment sale agreements over property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of R101 544 576.
They currently bear interest at rates linked to the prime interest rate and are repayable in monthly instalments of R2 804 075 over
periods ranging from 1 to 5 years.

15 DEFERRED TAXATION
COMPANY
2007
2006
R
R
The deferred taxation balance is attributable to the following:
Differential in accounting and taxation amortisation rates
Assessed losses
Deferred taxation liability
Deferred tax reconciliation
Net deferred taxation liability at start of year
Acquired from subsidiary
Movements during the year due to:
Tax rate change
Differential in accounting and taxation amortisation rates
Assessed losses
Net deferred taxation liability at end of year
Tax losses
Available for set-off against future taxable income
Applied to reduce deferred taxation
Unutilised
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9 720 817
9 720 817

GROUP
2007
2006
R
R

5 468 008 13 308 386
(139 531)
5 468 008 13 168 855

6 757 175
(30 982)
6 726 193

5 468 008
5 468 008
4 252 809
4 252 809
-

3 155 092
3 155 092
2 312 916
(105 170)
2 418 086
-

6 726 193
6 726 193
6 442 662
6 551 211
(108 549)

3 155 092
250 740
3 405 832
3 320 361
(113 528)
3 347 673
86 216

9 720 817

5 468 008

13 168 855

6 726 193

-

-

-

106 835
(106 835)
-

16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The group ﬁnancial instruments consist of trade and other receivables, investments, trade and other payables and non-current liabilities.
Credit risk management
Credit risk relates to potential exposure on cash and cash equivalents, investments and trade receivables.
To limit exposure on cash and investments, the Group’s cash assets and available for sale investments are placed with well established
ﬁnancial institutions of high credit standing. Loans receivable from group entities are closely monitored and managed. Credit risk
with respect to trade receivables is spread due to the variety of the Group’s customer base. Trade receivables are closely monitored,
ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the ﬁnancial position of customers, and where possible credit insurance cover is arranged,
or collateral obtained, to limit exposure to credit risk.
Interest rate risk management
The group is exposed to interest rate risk when it borrows or lends funds at either ﬁxed and ﬂoating interest rates, and when it has
surplus cash invested.
Trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable are of short term maturity and non-interest bearing.
If surplus funds are available, signiﬁcant interest bearing investments are made at market linked rates and are not of a long term
nature. The interest rates and terms of repayment attributable to the remaining ﬁnancial instruments are adequately disclosed in
the relevant notes to the ﬁnancial statements.
Currency risk management
The group may undertake certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies and exposures to exchange rate ﬂuctuations would
arise.
Group companies are generally not directly exposed to currency risk except when purchasing equipment from overseas, which
occurs infrequently. Exchange rate exposures are managed by utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.
Liquidity risk management
Responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the directors.
The group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate banking facilities and continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
ﬂows.
Capital risk management
The group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the group may at any time consist of debt, cash
and cash equivalents and equity, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of changes
in equity. The group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2006.
Fair value of ﬁnancial instruments
All ﬁnancial instruments are carried at fair value or amounts that approximate fair value.
Available for sale investments are carried at fair value. The carrying amounts for cash, cash equivalents, trade and other receivables
and payables and loans approximate fair value due to the short term nature of these instruments. Long term borrowings are at
market rates and their carrying values will approximate fair values.
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17 BANKING FACILITIES
The group has a multi-optional facility from Nedbank Ltd in the amount of R60 000 000 by way of overdraft, short term loan or
letter of guarantee facility. This facility is repayable on demand and bears interest at the prime overdraft rate less 2 percent. As
security for the facility, the bank holds:
a. Unrestricted ﬁrst cession of all present and future book debts.
b. Unlimited inter-linking suretyships including a cession of loan funds in favour of the bank between the Company and it’s
subsidiary company, WG Wearne Logistics (Pty) Ltd.
c.

First covering bond for R90 000 over ﬁxed property, supported by a pledge and cession of a Santam policy.

d. First covering bond for R1 000 000 over ﬁxed property, supported by a pledge and cession of a Santam policy.
e. First and second covering bonds totalling R1 200 000 over ﬁxed property, supported by a pledge and cession of a Santam Policy.
f.

First continuous covering mortgage bond for R840 000 over property.

The company and its subsidiary company, WG Wearne Logistics (Pty) Ltd, have combined banking facilities totalling R171 300 000
provided by ABSA Bank Limited. Of these facilities, R139 800 000 are limited in term to ﬁve years and the balance is to be reviewed
annually. Of the facility, R70 000 000 bears interest at the prime overdraft rate less 1 percent, R33 000 000 bears interest at a ﬁxed
rate of 11.78% per annum and the balance at the prime overdraft rate. As security for the facility, the bank holds:
a. First continuing mortgage bonds totalling R103 000 000 registered over ﬁxed properties.
b. Unlimited cross suretyship incorporating a cession of loan funds by subsidiary company, Noordvaal Crushers (Pty) Ltd.
c.

Cession of mining rights obtained from De Bruyn Sand Group.

d. Special notarial bonds over movable assets purchased from De Bruyn Sand Group for R27 000 000, of which R9 355 000 is held
by WG Wearne Logistics (Pty) Ltd.

18 INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS
COMPANY

GROUP

2007

2006

2007

R

R

R

2006
R

Non-current

66 849 147

9 683 157 106 147 951

20 815 424

Current

15 600 503
82 449 650

5 777 624 26 851 126
15 460 781 132 999 077

7 309 973
28 125 397

19 OTHER INCOME
COMPANY

GROUP

2007

2006

2007

2006

R

R

R

R

Other income comprises the following items:
Dividends received

846 392

1 243

857 858

9 121

Proﬁt on sale of property, plant and equipment

258 836

1 407 954

258 836

1 407 954

Bad debts recovered

383 080

292 204

383 080

292 204

175 432

55 000

175 432

55 000

114 213
1 777 953

188 167
1 944 568

114 213
1 789 419

188 167
1 952 446

Rent received
Sundry income

53

20 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
COMPANY

GROUP

2007

2006

2007

2006

R

R

R

R

258 836

1 407 954

258 836

1 407 954

Proﬁt before tax is disclosed after crediting:
Proﬁt on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Dividends received

846 392

1 243

857 858

9 121

1 891 141

941 480

1 941 513

941 879

Auditors’ remuneration -

430 000

300 000

480 000

330 000

Audit fees

350 000

300 000

400 000

330 000

80 000

-

80 000

-

Interest received
and after charging:

Other services
Directors’ emoluments –
For services as directors

6 000

-

6 000

-

For managerial services

4 270 496

4 006 662

5 148 746

4 256 662

Basic salary

2 467 980

2 393 000

3 346 230

2 643 000

Incentive bonuses

1 000 000

1 000 000

1 000 000

1 000 000

Use of motor vehicle

380 318

237 797

380 318

237 797

Pension

296 304

263 716

296 304

263 716

Medical aid

119 566

112 149

119 566

112 149

6 328

-

6 328

-

Finance costs

5 342 863

1 780 064

8 403 120

3 110 792

Operating lease costs

2 682 241

1 078 578

5 836 765

4 124 913

Share based payment expense

21 CLASSIFICATION OF TOTAL EXPENDITURE BY NATURE
COMPANY

GROUP

2007

2006

2007

R

R

R

R

63 970 385 126 584 342

63 356 410

Purchase of raw materials

127 138 972

Staff costs

43 348 204 30 896 696

Depreciation

11 615 977

4 542 421

47 710 045

2006

32 853 467

16 484 052

6 241 167

80 726 352 120 715 378

72 347 952

Other operating expenses

129 190 318

Borrowing costs

5 342 863
1 780 064
8 403 120
3 110 792
316 636 334 181 915 918 319 896 937 177 909 788
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22 TAXATION
COMPANY

GROUP

2007

2006

2007

2006

R

R

R

R

Current tax

3 808 896

2 547 857

3 808 896

2 547 857

Deferred tax - temporary differences

3 347 673

South African normal tax
4 142 029

2 418 086

6 331 881

Deferred tax – assessed losses

-

-

-

86 217

Deferred tax – rate change

-

-

(113 528)

Deferred tax - prior years
Secondary Tax on Companies
Charged against income

(105 170)

110 780

-

110 780

-

8 061 705

4 860 773

10 251 557

5 868 219

17 510 118 36 333 383

21 601 166

5 077 934

6 264 338

Reconciliation of the applicable tax to the effective tax
Proﬁt before tax

28 259 282

Income tax using statutory rate

8 195 192

Income not subject to tax

(406 435)

(291 460)

(563 033)

(465 163)

272 948

212 731

277 909

215 834

Expenses not deductible for tax
Special tax allowances
Deferred tax rate change
Effective tax

10 536 681

-

(33 262)

-

(33 262)

8 061 705

(105 170)
4 860 773

10 251 557

(113 528)
5 868 219

The company has unutilised Secondary Tax on Company credits amounting to R846 392 available for set-off against future STC
payable, when dividends are declared.

23 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with related parties:
All transactions and balances with related parties, including their terms and conditions, are adequately disclosed elsewhere in the
ﬁnancial statements, except for the transactions detailed below:
COMPANY
2007
Transaction type

Related party relationship

Services received from

2006

R

R

subsidiary

27 137 219

19 168 155

Services rendered to

subsidiary

4 122 715

952 227

Rehabilitation contributions to

special purpose entity

554 630

613 975

All supplies of goods and services were made on similar terms to those arranged with external customers.

24 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
COMPANY

GROUP

2007

2006

2007

R

R

R

R

Due in 1 year

1 043 209

843 708

4 001 737

3 789 504

Due in 2 - 5 years

1 635 358
2 678 567

552 062
1 395 770

6 018 498
10 020 235

8 233 746
12 023 250
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25 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
COMPANY

GROUP

2007

2006

2007

2006

R

R

R

R

807 890

510 376

1 047 333

629 308

Deﬁned contribution plan:
Group contributions expensed
Approximately 77 percent of the Group’s employees are members of this plan.

26 FUNDAMENTAL ERROR CORRECTION
The effect on the prior year income statements amounts of treating the rebates and discounts as reduction of cost of sales, as opposed
to the prior year treatment of reﬂecting them as other income, as discussed in the accounting policies above, is as follows:COMPANY AND GROUP
2006
Reduction in cost of sales

1 956 228

Reduction in other income
Effect on proﬁt before tax

(1 956 228)
-

27 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
COMPANY

GROUP

2007

2006

2007

2006

R

R

R

R

27.1 Reconciliation of taxation paid during the year:
Charge in income statement

(8 061 705) (4 860 773) (10 251 557) (5 868 219)

Adjustment for deferred tax

4 252 809

Movement in taxation balance
Payments made

(665 987) (2 175 085) (665 987) (2 175 085)
(4 474 883) (4 722 942) (4 474 883) (4 772 942)

27.2 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash balances included in the cash ﬂow statement
comprise the following balance sheet amounts:Cash and cash equivalents

2 312 916

8 406 133 19 788 323
8 406 133 19 788 323

6 442 661

3 320 362

9 381 975 19 986 196
9 381 975 19 986 196

27.3 Acquisition of subsidiary:
Cost of shares

-

Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired
Purchase price net of cash acquired

-

3 000 000
(236 526)
2 763 474
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Directors’ Remuneration

FROM THE COMPANY WG WEARNE LIMITED

Year ended

Basic

Incentive

Motor

Bonus

Vehicle

R

R

R

664 320

250 000

123 710

28 February 2007
S J Wearne

J C Wearne
B J Du Toit
O J G Harvey
B Mkhonto
E Moloi
Total

Year ended

Total

Medical Share-based

Total

aid

payment

R

R

R

R

79 762

43 026

1 582

1 162 400

664 320

250 000

91 036

79 762

38 816

1 582

1 125 516

606 500

250 000

88 791

72 804

15 348

1 582

1 035 025

532 840

250 000

76 781

63 976

22 376

1 582

947 555

3 000

-

-

-

-

-

3 000

3 000
2 473 980

1 000 000

380 318

296 304

119 566

6 328

4 276 496

Basic

Incentive

Motor

Pension

Medical Share-based

Total

Bonus

Vehicle

28 February 2006

J C Wearne
SJ Wearne
B J Du Toit
O J G Harvey
D D M Wearne

Pension

aid

payment

3 000

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

618 000

250 000

51 804

74 841

32 356

-

1 027 001
1 044 429

618 000

250 000

66 787

74 841

34 801

-

505 000

250 000

63 924

53 833

13 310

-

886 067

497 000

250 000

55 282

60 201

21 150

-

883 633

155 000
2 393 000

1 000 000

237 797

263 716

10 532
112 149

-

165 532
4 006 662

Incentive

Motor

Pension

Medical Share-based

Total

Bonus

Vehicle

R

R

R

346 000

-

356 000

-

176 250
878 250

-

Basic

FROM THE SUBSIDIARY WG WEARNE LOGISTICS (PTY) LIMITED

Year ended

Basic

28 February 2007

SJ Wearne
J C Wearne
O J G Harvey
Total

Year ended
28 February 2006

aid

payment

R

R

R

R

-

-

-

-

346 000

-

-

-

-

356 000

-

-

-

-

176 250
878 250

Incentive

Motor

Pension

Medical Share-based

Total

Bonus

Vehicle

aid

payment

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

SJ Wearne
J C Wearne

125 000
125 000

-

-

-

-

250 000

-

-

-

-

125 000
125 000

Total

-

-

250 000

Group Total 2007

3 352 230

1 000 000

380 318

296 304

119 566

6 328

5 154 746

Group Total 2006

2 643 000

1 000 000

237 797

263 716

112 149

-

4 256 662
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Shareholders Analysis Tables

FROM THE COMPANY WG WEARNE LIMITED

Register date: 23 February 2007
Issued Share Capital: 150,000,000 shares
Shareholder Spread

No. of shareholders

%

No. of Shares

%

1 - 1000 shares

341

12.81

241 521

0.16

1001 - 10000 shares
10001 - 100 000 shares
100 001 - 1 000 000 shares
1 000 001 shares and over

1 756

65.94

8 174 447

5.45

493

18.51

14 024 994

9.35

50

1.92

15 887 696

11.13

22
2 662

0.83
100.00

111 671 342
150 000 000

73.91
100.00

No. of shareholders

%

No. of Shares

%

Banks

10

0.38

2 284 600

1.52

Close corporations
Endowment Funds
Individuals
Insurance Companies
Investment Companies
Mutual funds
Nominees and Trust
Other corporations
Private Companies
Public companies
Share Trust

44

1.65

1 745 910

1.16

1

0.04

3 000

0.00

2 294

86.18

61 624 234

41.08

2

0.08

3 473 000

2.32

2

0.08

6 604 326

4.40

Distribution of Shareholders

12

0.45

8 444 562

5.63

174

6.53

42 737 457

28.49

52

1.95

443 521

0.30

69

2.59

17 139 390

11.43

1

0.04

500 000

0.33

1
2 662

0.04
100.00

5 000 000
150 000 000

3.33
100.00

No. of shareholders

%

No. of Shares

8

0.30

87 827 251

%
58.55

Strategic Holdings (more than 10%)

1

0.04

38 678 517

25.79

Directors and Associates of the Company holdings
Share Trust

6

0.23

44 148 734

29.43

1

0.04

5 000 000

2 654
2 662

99.70
100.00

62 172 749
150 000 000

3.33
41.45
100.00

No. of Shares

%

Public / Non-Public Shareholders
Non - Public Shareholders

Public Shareholders

Beneﬁcial Shareholders holding of 3% or more
Samant Trust

38 678 517

25.79

Wearne, SJ
Wearne, JC
Oak View Investments 11 (Pty) Ltd
Westside Trading 520 (Pty) Ltd

15 807 867

10.54

12 807 867

8.54

6 250 000

4.17

6 250 000

4.17
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

W G Wearne Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1994/005983/06)
JSE code: WEA ISIN: ZAE000078002
(“Wearne” or “the Company”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of Wearne will be held at the ofﬁces of the Company at Stonemill
Ofﬁce Park, 3 Kiepersol House, 300 Acacia Road, Cresta, 2195 on Friday, 31 August 2007 at 14h00 for the following purposes:
1.

To consider the annual ﬁnancial statements of the Company for the year ended 28 February 2007.

2. To transact such other business as may be transacted at the annual general meeting of the Company including the re-appointment
of the auditors and the re-election of retiring directors; and
3. To consider and, if deemed ﬁt, to pass, with or without modiﬁcation, the following special and ordinary resolutions set out below, in
the manner required by the South African Companies Act, 1973, as amended:

Special resolution
Special resolution number 1:
Share repurchases
“Resolved, as a special resolution, that the directors be authorised pursuant inter alia to the Company’s articles of association, until
this authority lapses at the next annual general meeting of the Company, unless it is then renewed at the next annual general meeting
of the Company and provided that this authority shall not extend beyond 15 months from date of passing this special resolution, for
the Company or any subsidiary of the Company to acquire shares of the Company, subject to the Listings Requirements of JSE Limited
(“JSE”), provided that:
1.

any repurchase of securities must be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any prior
understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counter party;

2. the Company may only appoint one agent to effect any repurchases on its behalf;
3. the Company must be authorised thereto by its articles of association;
4. the number of shares which may be acquired pursuant to this authority in any ﬁnancial year (which commenced 1 March 2007) may
not in the aggregate exceed 20% (twenty percent) of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of passing of this special
resolution;
5. repurchases of shares may not be made at a price greater than 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of the market value
of the securities for the ﬁve business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction was effected;
6. repurchases may not be undertaken by the Company or one of its wholly owned subsidiaries during a prohibited period (as deﬁned
in paragraph 3.67 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE)
7.

repurchases may only take place if, after such repurchase, the shareholder spread of the Company still complies with the Listings
Requirements of the JSE;

8. after the Company has acquired shares which constitute, on a cumulative basis, 3% (three percent) of the number of shares in issue
(at the time that authority from shareholders for the repurchase is granted), the Company shall publish an announcement to such
effect, or any other announcements that may be required in such regard in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE which may
be applicable from time to time; and
9. the Company’s Designated Advisor shall conﬁrm the adequacy of the Company’s working capital for purposes of undertaking the
repurchase of shares in writing to the JSE prior to entering the market to proceed with the repurchase.
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In accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE, the directors record that:
Although there is no immediate intention to effect a repurchase of securities of the Company, the directors would utilise the general
authority to repurchase securities as and when suitable opportunities present themselves, which opportunities may require expeditious
and immediate action.
The directors, after considering the maximum number of securities which may be purchased and the price at which the repurchases may
take place pursuant to the buy-back general authority, are of the opinion that for a period of 12 months after the date of notice of this
annual general meeting:
-

the Company and the Group will be able to pay their debts in the ordinary course of business;

-

the consolidated assets of the Company and of the Group fairly valued in accordance with generally accepted accounting

-

the share capital and reserves of the Company and of the Group will be adequate for the purposes of the business of the

-

the working capital available to the Company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes of the business of the

practice, will exceed the consolidated liabilities of the Company and of the Group after the buy-back;
Company and its subsidiaries; and
Company and its subsidiaries.
The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere in the annual report of which this notice forms part, is
provided in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE for purposes of this general authority:
-

Directors – page 32;

-

Major beneﬁcial shareholders – page 58;

-

Directors’ interests in ordinary shares – page 32; and

-

Share capital of the Company – page 49

Litigation statement
The directors, whose names appear on page 32 of the annual report of which this notice forms part, are not aware of any legal or
arbitration proceedings including proceedings that are pending or threatened that may have or have had in the recent past (being at least
the previous 12 (twelve) months) a material effect on the Group’s ﬁnancial position.

Directors’ responsibility statement
Directors whose names appear on page 32 of the annual report collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy
of the information pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that
have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been
made and that the special resolution contains all information required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual report, there have been no material changes in the affairs or ﬁnancial
position of the Company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report for the year ended 28 February 2007 and up
to the date of this notice.

Reasons for and effects of Special Resolution number 1
The reason for Special Resolution number 1 is to afford directors of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company a general authority
to effect a buy-back of the Company’s shares on the JSE. The effect of the resolution will be that the directors will have the authority,
subject to the Rules and Requirements of the JSE, to effect acquisitions of the Company’s shares on the JSE.

Ordinary resolutions
Ordinary resolution number 1:
Issue of shares for cash
“Resolved that the directors be authorised pursuant inter alia to the Company’s articles of association, until this authority lapses at the
next annual general meeting of the Company, unless it is then renewed at the next annual general meeting of the Company provided
that it shall not extend beyond 15 months, to allot and issue any ordinary shares for cash subject to the Rules and Requirements of the
JSE Limited (“JSE”) on the following bases:
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1. the allotment and issue of the shares must be made to persons qualifying as public shareholders as deﬁned in the
Listings Requirements of the JSE;
2. the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case,
must be limited to such shares or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;
3. the number of shares issued for cash shall not in the aggregate in any one ﬁnancial year exceed 50% (ﬁfty percent)
of the Company’s issued share capital of ordinary shares. The number of ordinary shares which may be issued shall
be based on the number of ordinary shares in issue at the date of such application less any ordinary shares issued
during the current ﬁnancial year, provided that any ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to a rights issue (announced,
irrevocable and fully underwritten) or acquisition (concluded up to the date of application including announcement of
the ﬁnal terms) may be included as though they were shares in issue a the date of application;
4. the maximum discount at which ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded
price on the JSE of those shares over the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or
agreed by the directors of the Company;
5. after the Company has issued shares for cash which represent, on a cumulative basis within a ﬁnancial year, 5% (ﬁve
percent) or more of the number of shares in issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an announcement
containing full details of the issue (including the number of shares issued, the average discount to the weighted average
traded price of the shares over the 30 days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed to by the
directors and the effect of the issue on net asset value and earnings per share), or any other announcements that may be
required in such regard in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE which may be applicable from time to time.
In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE a 75% (seventy-ﬁve percent) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or
represented by proxy at the general meeting must be cast in favour of Ordinary Resolution number 1 for it to be approved.
Ordinary resolution number 2:
Unissued ordinary shares
“Resolved that the authorised and unissued ordinary share capital of the Company be and is hereby placed under the control of the
directors of the Company which directors are, subject to the Rules and Regulations of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the provisions of section
221 and 222 of the Companies Act, 1973 as amended, authorised to allot and issue any of such shares at such time or times, to such
person or persons, company or companies and upon such terms and conditions as they may determine, such authority to remain in force
until the next annual general meeting of the Company.”
Ordinary resolution number 3:
Re-election of directors
“Resolved that S J Wearne and B Mkhonto be re-elected as directors of the Company.”
Ordinary resolution number 4:
Directors’ remuneration
“Resolved that the remuneration of the non-executive directors, as set out on page 57 of the annual report of which this notice forms
part, be and is hereby conﬁrmed and ratiﬁed.”
Ordinary resolution number 5:
Signature of documentation
“Resolved that any director or the Company secretary of the Company be and is hereby authorised to sign all such documentation and
do all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of Special Resolutions number 1 and Ordinary Resolutions
numbers 1, 2, 3, 4 and 6 which are passed by the members in accordance with and subject to the terms thereof.”
Ordinary resolution number 6:
Re-appointment of auditors
“Resolved that Clarke and Patterson be re-appointed as auditors of the Company.”
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Voting and Proxies

A shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who
need not be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead.
On a show of hands, every shareholder of the Company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a poll,
every shareholder of the Company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote for every share held in the Company
by such shareholder.
A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any shareholder holding Wearne shares who cannot attend the annual general
meeting. Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the Company’s registered ofﬁce. The completed forms of proxy must
be deposited at or posted to the ofﬁce of the transfer secretaries of the Company, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary)
Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) to be received no later than 48
hours prior to the meeting. Any member who completes and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in
person at the general meeting should the member subsequently decide to do so.
Shareholders who have already dematerialised their shares through their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker
rather than through own-name registration and who wish to attend the annual general meeting must instruct their CSDP or broker to
issue them with the necessary authority to attend.
Dematerialised shareholders, who have elected own-name registration in the sub-register through a CSDP and who are unable to attend
but wish to vote at the annual general meeting should complete and lodge the attached form of proxy with the transfer secretaries of
the Company.
Dematerialised shareholders, who have elected own-name registration in the sub-register through a CSDP and who are unable to attend
but wish to vote at the annual general meeting, should timeously provide their CSDP or broker with their voting, instructions in terms of
the custody agreement entered into between the shareholder and his CSDP or broker.

By order of the Board
OJG Harvey
Company Secretary
8 August 2007

Registered address
Stonemill Ofﬁce Park
3 Kiepersol House
300 Acacia Road
Cresta, 2195
(PO Box 1422, Randfontein, 1760)

Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
(PO Box 1053, Johannesburg, 2000)
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Form of Proxy
(for use by certiﬁcated shareholders and own name dematerialised shareholders)

WG Wearne Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1994/005983/06)
JSE code: WEA ISIN: ZAE000078002
(“Wearne” or “the Company”)

Form of proxy for the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 14h00 on Friday, 31 August 2007 at the Company’s registered
ofﬁces, Stonemill Ofﬁce Park, 3 Kiepersol House, 300 Acacia Road, Cresta, 2195 (“the annual general meeting”).
For use by certiﬁcated shareholders, nominee companies of Central Securities Depository Participants (“CSDP”), brokers’ nominee
companies and shareholders who have dematerialised their shares and who have elected own-name registration, who wish to vote on
the ordinary and special resolutions per the Notice of the Annual General meeting to which this form is attached.
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker must not complete this form of proxy and must provide their
CSDP or broker with their voting instructions, except for shareholders who elected own-name registration in the sub-register through a
CSDP, which shareholders must complete this form of proxy and lodge it with Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited.
Holders of dematerialised shares other than with own name registration, wishing to attend the annual general meeting must inform their
CSDP or broker of such intention and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authorisation to attend.
I/We (Name in block letters)
Of (Address)
Being the holder/s of

Ordinary shares in the Company, do hereby appoint

1.

or failing him/her

2.

or failing him/her

3. The chairperson of the annual general meeting
as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company, or any adjournment thereof,
which will be held for the purpose of considering and, if deemed ﬁt, of passing, with or without modiﬁcation, the ordinary and special
resolutions as detailed in the Notice of annual general meeting, and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from
voting in respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions (refer notes):
Number of votes on a poll (one vote per ordinary share)
In favour

Against

Abstain

To pass special resolution:
1. To effect share buy-backs
To pass ordinary resolutions:
1. To issue for cash the authorised but unissued shares
2. To place the unissued shares under the control of the directors
3. To re-elect the following directors
S J Wearne
B Mkhonto
4. To ratify directors’ remuneration
5. To authorise the signature of documentation
6. To re-appoint Clarke and Patterson as auditors of the Company
Signed at

on

2007

Signature
Assisted by (if applicable)

Form of Proxy.indd 1
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Notes to Proxy
(for use by certiﬁcated shareholders and own name dematerialised shareholders)

WG Wearne Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1994/005983/06)
JSE code: WEA ISIN: ZAE000078002
(“Wearne” or “the Company”)

1. Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need to be a shareholder of the Company) to attend,
speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the annual general meeting.
2. Shareholder(s) that are certiﬁcated or own-name dematerialised shareholders may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two
alternative proxies of the member’s choice in the space/s provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson of the meeting”, but any
such deletion must be initialed by the shareholder(s). The person whose name stands ﬁrst on the form of proxy and who is present at
the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. If no proxy is named on a
lodged from of proxy the chairperson shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.
3. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by the
shareholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy, in the case of
any proxy other than the chairperson, to vote or abstain from voting as deemed ﬁt and in the case of the chairperson to vote in favour
of the resolution.
4. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder, but the total of the votes cast or
abstained from may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in respect of the shares held by the shareholder.
5. Forms of proxy must be lodged at or posted to Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall
Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) to be received no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.
6. The completion and lodging of this from of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder
wish to do so. Where there are joint holders of shares, the vote of the ﬁrst joint holder who tenders a vote, as determined by the order
in which the names stand in the register of members, will be accepted.
7.

The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received otherwise
than in accordance with these notes, provided that, in respect of acceptances, the chairperson is satisﬁed as to the manner in which
the shareholder concerned wishes to vote.

8. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached
to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company or Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited or
waived by the chairperson of the annual general meeting.
9. Any alteration or correction made to this from of proxy must be initialed by the signatory/ies,
10. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are produced
or have been registered by Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited.
11. Where there are joint holders of any shares, only that holder whose name appears ﬁrst in the register in respect of such shares need
sign this form of proxy.
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Company Secretary and
Registered Office
COMPANY SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE

DESIGNATED ADVISOR

Owen John Garrett Harvey
Stonemill Office Park
3 Kiepersol House
300 Acacia Road
Cresta, 2195
PO Box 1422, Randfontein, 1760
Telephone: (011) 459 4500
Facsimile: (011) 459 4515

Exchange Sponsors (Pty) Limited
(Registration number 1999/024433/07)
39 First Road
Hyde Park, 2196
PO Box 411216
Craighall, 2024
Telephone: (011) 447 2951
Facsimile: (011) 447 1929

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

COMMERCIAL BANKERS

Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited
(Registration number 2004/003647/07)
Ground Floor
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown, 2107
Telephone: (011) 370 5000
Facsimile: (011) 688 5210

Nedbank Limited
(Registration number 1951/000009/06)
5th Floor, Nedbank House
12 Fredman Drive
Sandown, 2196
PO Box 784088
Sandton, 2146
Telephone: (011) 775 2600
Facsimile: (011) 783 4882

ATTORNEYS

AUDITORS

Fluxmans Inc
(Registration number 2000/024775/21)
11 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, 2196
Private Bag X14
Saxonwold, 2196
Telephone: (011) 328 1700
Facsimile: (011) 880 2261

Clarke and Patterson
(Practice number 900931)
1st Floor, Metropolitan Building
108 Fox Street, Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 2092
Johannesburg, 2000
Telephone: (011) 838 5035
Facsimile: (011) 836 0851

